

[image: images]




DOROTHY H CRAWFORD qualified qualified in medicine from St Thomas’ Hospital London and gained a PhD from Bristol University. She was the Robert Irvine Professor of Medical Microbiology at the University of Edinburgh from 1997 to 2010 and Assistant Principal for Public Understanding of Medicine at the University from 2005–12. She has published around 200 research papers as well as a number of popular science books including The Invisible Enemy: A Natural History of Viruses and Deadly Companions: How Microbes Shaped Our History.


TARA WOMERSLEY started her career in journalism, working for newspapers including the Daily Telegraph and the Sunday Times and is a former health correspondent for The Scotsman. She subsequently worked in press and public relations, including handling media for the University of Edinburgh’s College of Medicine and Veterinary Medicine, before going on to study medicine at the University of Aberdeen.




[image: images]




First published 2010


New edition 2016


ISBN: 978-1-910745-37-3


The authors’ right to be identified as authors of this book under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 has been asserted.


The paper used in this book is recyclable. It is made from low chlorine pulps produced in a low energy, low emission manner from renewable forests.


Printed and bound in the uk by Bell & Bain Ltd., Glasgow


Typeset in 11 point Sabon


© Tara Womersley and Dorothy H Crawford 2010




This book is dedicated to the authors’ parents, Ursula and John Womersley and Theo and Margaret Crawford





Acknowledgements


The authors would like to thank the following experts for helpful advice: Mr Mike Barfoot (History of Medicine), Professor Raj Bhopal (Public Health), Professor Andrew Calder (Obstetrics), Professor Siddharthan Chandran (Neurology), Dr Maria Dlugolecka-Graham (Polish School of Medicine Memorial Fund); Dr Gordon Findlater (Anatomy), Professor James Garden (Surgery), Chloe Kippen (Development and Alumni), Professor Ken Murray (Molecular Biology), Professor Neil Turner (Renal Medicine), Professor Kathy Whaler (Geology), Professor Robert Will (Neuroscience) and Professor Lesley Yellowlees (Chemistry). We are also indebted to librarians Ms Laura Bouard (NHS Lothian), Ms Tricia Boyd (University of Edinburgh, Special Collections), Ian Milne (Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh) and Anne Morrison (Edinburgh City Libraries). In addition the following kindly read and commented on the manuscript: William Alexander, Janet Dalitz, Frances Fowler, Louis Golightley, Ingo Johannessen, Catriona Kelly and Helen Puttick. Mr George Clerk kindly provided photographs.





Foreword


As the latest in a long line of Edinburgh doctors entrusted with stewardship of medical education and research in the city’s great international University, it is an honour to introduce this fascinating book. For three centuries medicine in Edinburgh has been no stranger to controversy, but whenever tested, the forces of enlightenment have eventually overcome those of conservatism, whether the issue was the teaching of Anatomy, safe surgery, medical education for women, or human embryonic stem cells. A key factor of ‘the Edinburgh Method’ has been to base teaching and research firmly in the practice of medicine rather than its theory. This approach has yielded a rich harvest in prevention and cure, and individuals with innovative ideas. In the early 21st century, these values are as strongly held as ever, the only difference being that medical students no longer need instruction in table manners, although this advance needed decades of determined work. So for a story that links Lister with Littlejohn, Simpson with Syme, Darwin with Doyle and Woodruff with Wilmut, read on…


Sir John Savill, BA, MBCHB, PHD, FRCP, FRCPE, FASN, FMedSci, FRSE


Vice-Principal & Head of College of Medicine and Veterinary Medicine, the University of Edinburgh, Professor of Experimental Medicine.
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Chronology of Events


1349 The Black Death reaches Edinburgh


1505 The Edinburgh Guild of Barbers and Surgeons established


1582 The University of Edinburgh founded


1603 James VI of Scotland succeeds to the English throne


1657 Edinburgh Town Council creates the Guild of Apothecaries and Surgeons


1670 Robert Sibbald plants a physic garden in Edinburgh


1681 The Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh granted a Royal charter


1685 Robert Sibbald, James Halket and Archibald Pitcairn appointed joint Professors of the Theory and Practice of Medicine


1707 The Act of Union


1720 Alexander Monro (primus) appointed Professor of Anatomy


1726 The Edinburgh Medical School opens


1729 The ‘Little House’ hospital opens in Robertson’s Close


1741 The Old Infirmary opens in Drummond Place


1755 Joseph Black discovers ‘fixed air’ – carbon dioxide


1758 Alexander Monro (secondus) succeeds his father as Professor of Anatomy


1765 Building of Edinburgh’s New Town commences


1778 The Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh granted a Royal charter


1788 James Hutton’s Theory of the Earth published


1798 Edward Jenner’s findings on smallpox vaccination published


1808 Alexander Monro (tertius) succeeds his father as Professor of Anatomy


1811 Charles Bell’s New Idea of the Anatomy of the Brain published


1813 The Edinburgh Lunatic Asylum opens (later renamed the Royal Edinburgh Hospital)


1812 James Barry graduates in Medicine from the University of Edinburgh


1827 ‘Joseph the Miller’ murdered in the West Port by William Burke and William Hare


1830 Charles Bell’s The Nervous System of the Body published


1831 Major cholera epidemic in Edinburgh


1832 Thomas Hodgkin describes Hodgkin’s Disease (Hodgkin’s Lymphoma)


1837 Queen Victoria ascends to the throne


1840 James Simpson appointed to the Chair of Midwifery


1842 James Syme carries out the first amputation at the ankle


1845 John Hughes Bennett identifies leukaemia


1847 James Simpson discovers the anaesthetic properties of chloroform


1849 Thomas Addison describes Addison’s (Pernicious) Anaemia


1855 Thomas Addison describes Addison’s Disease


1859 Charles Darwin’s On the Origin of Species published


1862 Henry Littlejohn appointed as Edinburgh’s first Medical Officer for Health


1865 James Barry dies and is found to be a woman


1865 Littlejohn publishes his report: On the Sanitary Condition of the City of Edinburgh


1867 Joseph Lister publishes the results of using carbolic acid as an antiseptic


1869 ‘The Edinburgh Seven’ matriculate at the University of Edinburgh


1869 Lister appointed to the Chair of Clinical Surgery


1870 The first City Fever Hospital opens


1879 The New Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh opens in Lauriston Place


1880 Compulsory notification of infectious diseases introduced in Edinburgh


1885 The second City Fever Hospital opens


1887 Arthur Conan Doyle’s A Study in Scarlet published


1887 Sophia Jex-Blake opens the Edinburgh School of Medicine for women


1889 Ina and Grace Cadwell and Elsie Inglis set up the Medical College for Women


1894 The University of Edinburgh allows female medical students to graduate


1896 The first female doctors graduate from the University of Edinburgh


1901 King Edward VII ascends to the throne


1903 The City Hospital for Infectious Diseases opens in Colinton Mains


1910 King George V ascends to the throne


1914 Outbreak of the First World War


1918 Robert Philip appointed to the first Chair of Tuberculosis


1931 Norman Dott performs the first successful operation on a ruptured brain aneurysm


1939 Outbreak of the Second World War


1939 The Department of Surgical Neurology, known as ‘Ward 20’, opens at the Royal Infirmary


1941 The Polish School of Medicine established at the University of Edinburgh


1948 The NHS comes into being


1951 John Crofton appointed as Professor of Respiratory Diseases and Tuberculosis


1952 Queen Elizabeth II ascended to the throne


1954 The inauguration of John Crofton’s ‘Edinburgh Method’, which halves TB notifications in the city within four years


1956 The University of Edinburgh sets up a Nursing Teaching Unit


1957 Michael Woodruff appointed as Professor of Surgical Science


1960 Michael Woodruff performs the UK’s first successful kidney transplant


1963 The University of Edinburgh establishes the world’s first Chair in General Practice


1971 Patrick Forrest appointed to the Regius Chair of Clinical Surgery


1984 Kenneth Murray’s synthetic hepatitis B vaccine becomes available


1986 The first case of BSE – mad cow disease – identified in the UK


1988 The National Breast Cancer Screening programme set up


1990 The National CJD Surveillance Unit set up at the University of Edinburgh


1996 Four deaths from variant CJD reported


1997 Announcement of Dolly the Sheep’s birth


2000 Pancreas transplants introduced at the Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh


2002 The Chancellor’s Building opens at Little France


2003 The Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh relocates to Little France


2005 The University of Edinburgh’s Queen’s Medical Research Institute opens at Little France


2008 The Roslin Institute joins with the University of Edinburgh


2010 The Clinical Research Imaging Centre opens


2011 The Roslin Institute relocates to a new £60 million building


2012 The Scottish Centre for Regenerative Medicine Opens


2013 The Anne Rowling Regenerative Neurology Clinic opens following a £10 million donation from JK Rowling





Introduction


THE HISTORIES OF Edinburgh and the Medical School of its oldest university have been entwined for centuries in the fight against disease. Today, Edinburgh’s medical pioneers find themselves in a new and exciting era as they build on the work of the past and forge ahead with discoveries that will impact on the future. At the University’s Little France campus and elsewhere more than 1,000 researchers are pursuing groundbreaking studies with a clear emphasis on translating their findings from the laboratory bench into improved treatments for patients.


Bodysnatchers to Lifesavers looks back to the very roots of medical practice in the city, from the incorporation of the Edinburgh Guild of Barbers and Surgeons in 1505 to the opening of the University’s Medical School in 1726 and, shortly after that, the setting up of the city’s first teaching hospital – the six-bed ‘Little House’ in Robertson’s Close off the Cowgate.


At the time the Medical School opened, poverty and overcrowding were rife in the city and the lack of sanitation gave free rein to the spread of disease. Death rates were appallingly high, with infants being particularly vulnerable. Scotland’s first Medical Officer of Health, Sir Henry Littlejohn, took responsibility for turning the tide of Edinburgh’s dreadful public health record. In a long career starting in the mid-19th century, he fought more or less single-handedly for a modern public health system, introducing initiatives such as the compulsory notification of infectious diseases and the provision of free smallpox vaccinations during epidemics.


Public health was not the only aspect of medicine in which Edinburgh established a strong reputation. From the early 18th century the Medical School was renowned for its teaching of Anatomy. This subject was initially dominated by the Monro dynasty, with three generations ruling over the dissecting rooms for more than a hundred years. Their success led to a huge demand for bodies for dissection that was fed by grave-robbers – ‘bodysnatchers’ – and inspired Burke and Hare to embark on their notorious West Port murder spree.


In the pre-anaesthetic era, surgeons were celebrated for their skill and speed with the knife – for instance, Professor James Syme was reputed to have amputated a leg in 90 seconds. The discovery of the anaesthetic properties of chloroform by James Young Simpson revolutionised surgery by allowing more extensive and invasive techniques, but did little to stem surgical death rates. Operating theatres were often filthy places and now that more time could be spent on operative procedures, patients were at greater risk of post-operative sepsis. It was another surgeon, Joseph Lister, who pioneered the use of the antiseptic carbolic acid, showing that it prevented wounds from becoming infected.


The city’s exclusively male medical profession of the 19th century was first infiltrated by one James Barry, who qualified in 1812 and practised as an army doctor for 40 years. Only after her death was it discovered that she was a woman. Shortly after Barry’s death ‘The Edinburgh Seven’, led by the redoubtable Sophia Jex-Blake, mounted a serious assault on the male bastion. Their struggle to follow their calling is a tale of attack, counter-attack, intrigue and underhand manoeuvres.


Famous for teaching the art of astute clinical observation, the Edinburgh Medical School spawned many individuals who, at least in part due to that training, made their names outside medicine. James Hutton deduced that the Earth was not a few thousand but millions of years old, Joseph Black discovered carbon dioxide and Charles Darwin conceived his theory of evolution by natural selection. On the literary front, Arthur Conan Doyle’s world-famous detective, Sherlock Holmes, was reputedly modelled on Joseph Bell, the Edinburgh Medical School lecturer whose powers of observation and logical deduction so deeply impressed the author.


These are just a few of the many fascinating episodes recounted in the pages of Bodysnatchers to Lifesavers in a story populated with a succession of progressive innovators whose passion, insight and scientific acumen won time and again over blinkered conservatism and petty professional jealousy. While not claiming to be comprehensive, this book reveals the extraordinary human stories behind great developments and charts the impact that advances in medical practice, made in Edinburgh, have had over the centuries.





CHAPTER 1


Medicine in Edinburgh


The Beginning


PERCHED ON ITS VOLCANIC plug high above the city, the castle has dominated the Edinburgh skyline since the 12th century. Edinburgh today is a handsome, thriving capital where most of its 500,000 inhabitants enjoy high standards of hygiene and healthcare, but this has not always been the case. In earlier times the city earned a nickname with a very different resonance: ‘Auld Reekie’. For most of its history, privilege and poverty have existed cheek by jowl in this city of contrasts.


In medieval times Edinburgh’s main thoroughfare, the Royal Mile, ran along the ridge between the Castle and Holyrood Palace (formerly a monastery), with the Old Town clustered along its length. Narrow wynds ran down to the valleys of the Grassmarket and the Cowgate to the west and south respectively, and to the north to the Nor Loch, which served as the city’s water supply and sewage dump and, in the 16th century, as a convenient spot for ‘douking’ suspected witches. In the warren of narrow, dank wynds, the rich lived alongside the poor, inhabiting tenements that rose as high as 14 storeys, often with whole families accommodated in each tiny room. Class distinction in medieval Edinburgh was vertical rather than horizontal, with the better-off in the brighter, airier upper storeys and the poorest packed into the darkest, dampest, most polluted corners, often underground. Water had to be carried from street pumps and all sewage and refuse was simply thrown into the wynds and left to slither down the steep passageways. Sewage disposal took place daily on the dot of 10pm. When the bell of St Giles chimed, doors and windows flew open and, to the call of ‘Gardez loo!’, all those in the street ran for cover as rubbish was thrown down from above.


[image: images]


The Cowgate area in1646, showing ‘Robertson’s Wynd’ (no.54) where the six-bed ‘Little House’, the first teaching hospital in Edinburgh, opened in 1729.


In comparison to its southerly neighbour, medieval Scotland was a poor country and in the 16th and 17th centuries the streets of Edinburgh saw riots caused by food shortages, poor pay and housing conditions, unemployment and destitution. The capital was also torn by religious and political strife between Jacobites and Hanoverians, proand anti-Unionists, and Catholics and Protestants. As its population grew – from 25,000 in 1600 to 50,000 in 1750 – nothing was done to relieve the overcrowding and living conditions deteriorated for the less well-off. With no poor relief to stave off food shortages and no basic hygiene to prevent epidemics, it is no wonder that Auld Reekie was a very unhealthy place to live.


When James VI of Scotland succeeded to the English throne (as James I) in 1603, many courtiers and noblemen followed him south, leaving the capital bereft. By the time of the Act of Union in 1707, an air of depression and lethargy had settled over Edinburgh. National commerce had stagnated, causing a serious downturn in international trade. After the failed 1745 rebellion the Union was broadly accepted as irreversible, even by many who had supported the Jacobite cause, and its advantages were becoming evident, as it brought much-needed wealth to Scotland through imperial trade with the West and East Indies and North America. Some of the Scottish nobility returned and a wealthy merchant class began to dominate the scene. Beginning around 1730, the cultural renaissance known as the Scottish Enlightenment placed Edinburgh at the centre of intellectual life in Europe. An extraordinary number of eminent thinkers congregated in the city, including the philosopher David Hume, the novelist Sir Walter Scott and the poet Robert Burns. An ambitious town-planning project saw the building of the New Town commence in 1765. As part of this development the highly polluted Nor Loch was drained, to reveal the bodies of several suspected witches who were proved innocent posthumously by the fact that they had drowned (the belief was that real witches would float). The construction of bridges spanning the valleys to the north and south allowed further expansion of the city and many of the better-off moved to the New Town. The neoclassical style of its streets, terraces and squares, and the intellectual vibrancy of the period earned Edinburgh the name of ‘the Athens of the North’.


The lot of the poor in the Old Town did not improve, as any space created by the exodus of the well-heeled was soon filled by immigrants, particularly the destitute from Ireland, who came seeking employment. The enormous movement from countryside to city during the Industrial Revolution meant that crowding only got worse and poverty, famine and disease all took their toll. Smallpox, cholera, tuberculosis (TB) and other infections were frequent visitors. With no idea how to control or treat them and no organised medical services, citizens succumbed to these diseases right up until the early 20th century.


The University of Edinburgh


Established in 1582, the University of Edinburgh differed from its rivals, Oxford, Cambridge, Aberdeen and St Andrews in that it was set up by the Town Council and not the Church. Referred to as the ‘Toun’s College’, this lack of religious affiliation had many advantages in a time of religious conflict but in the political upheavals that followed the College was left severely underfunded. There was no organised building programme until the magnificent buildings of Old College were designed by Robert Adam in the late 18th century and completed by William Playfair in the early 19th century.


In the early days University teachers, known as ‘regents’, were paid so little that many quickly found more lucrative employment elsewhere. A regent’s annual stipend of 40 merks (around £27) plus board and student fees (£2 per course for townsfolk, £3 for outsiders, paid directly to the teacher) contrasted poorly with that of a parish minister, making the Church an attractive alternative.1 Students, who began their studies at the age of 13 or 14, were taught all subjects throughout their four years at University by the same regent. Since the regent’s income depended on the number of students taught, staff-to-student ratios were high. This led to overcrowded lectures for the most popular teachers – not a great recipe for student satisfaction. Wealthy citizens preferred to send their sons abroad to study, principally to Padua in the 16th century and to Utrecht or Leiden in the 17th. In Leiden a revolution in teaching methods was under way, spearheaded by the charismatic Herman Boerhaave, who had read Philosophy and later Medicine there, and was appointed Professor of Botany and Medicine in 1709. In 1714 he became Rector of Leiden University and also Professor of Practical Medicine and revolutionised teaching practices by abolishing regents and introducing specialist teaching that for the first time allowed professors to stick entirely to their own subjects, although their stipend still depended on the number of students they attracted. Boerhaave, whose teaching methods brought him fame throughout Europe in his own lifetime, continued to practise medicine as well as teach it. In 1724 he described the case of Baron Jan von Wassenaer, a Dutch admiral who died of a ruptured oesophagus caused by severe vomiting after indulging in a gluttonous feast – an unpleasant end to an enjoyable meal. The condition, which was universally fatal at the time, is still known as ‘Boerhaave’s Syndrome’.2
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Plans of Old College showing the Anatomy lecture theatre in the North West corner (from The Student 1885–1903).


Boerhaave’s innovations in teaching methods swept Europe. The University of Edinburgh abandoned the regenting system in 1708, around the same time as plans for a new Medical School reached fruition. Its reputation as an international centre of learning grew as the century progressed and students came from far and wide, particularly to attend courses at the Medical School which was by then the dominant Faculty. ‘No place in the world can pretend to compete with Edinburgh’, American President Thomas Jefferson commented in 1789.3


The University, a popular choice for children of the Scottish diaspora, also became a haven for the politically marginalised; it welcomed those affected by the French Revolution and the Napoleonic Wars, English nonconformists banned from the ecclesiastical universities of Oxford and Cambridge, and Irish Presbyterians excluded from Dublin.


The Edinburgh Medical School


The practice of medicine in medieval Edinburgh was at best primitive and at worst positively dangerous, with all classes dependant on traditional herbal remedies. By the 18th century quackery abounded and the rich often fell prey to impostors purveying expensive potions that had no curative value. One such charlatan was James Graham, a charismatic individual who studied Medicine at the University but by all accounts dropped out before qualifying. Graham practised medicine illegally in England before making a visit to America from which he returned extolling the healing powers of electricity and magnetism. His claim that ‘electricity invigorates the whole body and remedies all physical defects’ brought rich patrons flocking to his lavishly appointed ‘Temple of Health’ in London’s Pall Mall. There, attended by ‘goddesses of health’ (one of whom was Emma Hart, the future Lady Hamilton and mistress of Horatio Nelson), they wallowed in electrically charged baths or slept in ‘celestial beds’ surrounded by powerful magnets (offered as a cure for infertile couples).


Interest in Graham’s novel ‘cures’ eventually waned in London. With his debts rising, in 1783 he returned to Edinburgh, where one of his customers was the 14-year-old Walter Scott, who had suffered from polio and was referred to Graham by his maternal grandfather, a doctor. Over the years Graham became increasingly eccentric and was eventually committed as insane.4 To be charitable, the purported remedies offered by this flamboyant character were probably no less effective than some other unlikely ‘cures’ which were nonetheless apparently mainstream, such as this one for colic:




The hoofs of living creatures are good, being drunk; or dry ox-dung in broth, or the juice pressed from ox-dung drunk is better. The heart of a lark bound to the thigh is excellent against colic; and some have eaten it raw with good success.5





From early times care of the sick and destitute in Scotland, as in other European countries, was provided by monks who ran hospitals for the needy. In Scotland the largest of these was at Soutra Hill, about 18 miles south-east of Edinburgh, where a church, Augustinian friary and hospital complex known as the ‘House of the Holy Trinity’ was granted a royal charter by Malcolm IV in 1164. Seeds from medicinal herbs such as henbane, hemlock and even the non-British opium poppy have been excavated at the site, where many early surgical instruments have also been found. The hospital’s proximity to the Via Regia, the main north–south road, meant that the hospital, which remained open until the 17th century, tended not only the local poor and sick, but also travellers including pilgrims and soldiers.


Following a papal edict in 1215 forbidding monks to have direct contact with blood, the holy practitioners enlisted barbers to assist in procedures such as bone-setting, tooth-drawing and stone-cutting, as well as the common practice of bleeding out evil humours. This unlikely alliance was the origin of the Edinburgh Guild of Barbers and Surgeons, which was approved by the Town Council in 1505 in an attempt to oust quacks. From then on, would-be practitioners had to learn their skills by apprenticeship to a master and gain a licence.


In contrast to barber-surgeons, physicians can trace their history to apothecaries and pharmacists whose trade of concocting and dispensing drugs and potions was often handed down through the generations along with folklore and herbal remedies. This branch of the profession had no guild until 1657 when the Town Council created a single Guild of Apothecaries and Surgeons. The alliance was fragile and uneasy. Competition was fierce and jealousy abounded. The physician was recognised as a gentleman, the surgeon more as a tradesman.6


A separate College of Physicians was granted a royal charter in 1681 and a charter for the College of Surgeons followed in 1778. The Royal Colleges, like the joint Guild of Apothecaries and Surgeons before them, trained by apprenticeship and granted a licence to practise after examination.


At the start of the 18th century a group of ‘Leiden men’, inspired by Boerhaave, were keen to set up a medical school in Edinburgh using his teaching methods. A leading advocate of this system was Robert Sibbald, a physician-apothecary from Fife who planted a physic garden in Edinburgh in 1670 to encourage the study of Botany and Materia Medica (Pharmacy). Sibbald recounts in his autobiography:




So I had from my settlement here in Edinburgh a designe to informe myself of the natural history thus resolved to make it part of my study to know those animals, vegetables, mineralls, metals and substances cast up by the sea, were found in this country, that might be of use in medicine, or other artes usefull to human lyfe.7





In 1685 Edinburgh Town Council appointed Sibbald and two of his colleagues, James Halket and Archibald Pitcairne (who had been Professor of Medicine in Leiden prior to Boerhaave) as professors of the Theory and Practice of Medicine. Twenty years later, in 1705, a Chair of Anatomy was established. Extraordinary as it may seem, none of these professorships involved any teaching – it was not until professors of Botany, Chemistry, Materia Medica and Midwifery were appointed and the Medical School proper opened in 1726, that comprehensive training leading to a degree in medicine was inaugurated. The University teachers were in competition with private teaching establishments, so-called ‘extra-mural’ schools, most of which were clustered around the University in Surgeons’ Square, and taught students heading for exams at the Colleges of Physicians and Surgeons or for the University degree.


The three-year Doctor of Medicine (MD) degree course included Anatomy, Surgery, Chemistry, Botany, Materia Medica, and the Theory and Practice of Medicine. Teaching in clinical medicine was conducted in the six-bedded Infirmary, ‘the Little House’, which opened in Robertson’s Close off the Cowgate in 1729 in premises rented from the Town Council. Run by public subscription, it was replaced within 20 years by ‘the Old Infirmary’ in Drummond Street. This building, designed by William Adam, could accommodate more than 200 patients. This allowed the emphasis on practical, hospital-based teaching which became Edinburgh’s hallmark and gained the Medical School an excellent reputation for clinical tuition.


To gain the MD degree students had to submit a thesis on a medical topic. At the end of the course they were obliged to present themselves, suitably attired in a black silk waistcoat, for a final oral examination conducted by at least two professors, covering all medical disciplines and including a detailed discussion of two cases. Until 1833 the thesis was written, and the examination conducted, entirely in Latin. This rigorous procedure was generally regarded as necessary for physicians, but budding surgeons often preferred to take the more practical College of Surgeons’ licentiate diploma.


These extra-mural schools, including the Colleges of Physicians and Surgeons, provided intense competition for the University teachers. The colleges continued to offer medical qualifications until 1948, but it was in the 18th century that the rivalry between the University’s medical professors and the extra-mural teachers was strongest, with students attending the cheaper extra-mural classes according to their needs, ambitions, finances and whim. In the first 20 years of the Medical School’s existence only 36 students graduated with MD degrees,8 and during the whole 18th century larger numbers qualified from the extra-mural schools than the University MD course.9


The 1745 Jacobite rebellion and almost continuous warfare on the Continent meant that the majority of beds in the infirmary were filled with military casualties and, not surprisingly, many Edinburgh graduates chose to join the army or the navy. Indeed at one time the vast majority of army doctors were Scottish and most of these were Edinburgh trained.10 Whether the military were grateful for this we do not know, but they did insist on potential recruits spending time at the General Hospital, Fort Pitt, at Chatham, living in the mess at their own expense – not least, to learn table manners. One recruit later wrote:




The medical service was then principally recruited from Scotch and Irish schools, some of them very rough specimens, who were entirely innocent at first of the ordinary uses of a silver fork or finger-basin at dinner, and whose period of probation at a military mess-table was not the least useful part of their education; but under this rather uncultivated exterior there were not a few instances of those who, in their subsequent career, gave testimony that they possessed a high sense of duty, and a lofty estimate of the purpose of life.11
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